# The

# ALIMPSEST

NOVEMBER 1936

CONTENTS

Grand Concert

BEN HUR WILSON

The Mind and the Soil

LUELLA M. WRIGHT

Comment

PUBLISHED MONTHLY AT IOWA CITY BY
THE STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF IOWA

ENTERED AS SECOND CLASS MATTER JULY 28 1920 AT THE POST OFFICE AT IOWA CITY IOWA UNDER THE ACT OF AUGUST 24 1912

#### THE PURPOSE OF THIS MAGAZINE

THE PALIMPSEST, issued monthly by the State Historical Society of Iowa, is devoted to the dissemination of Iowa History. Supplementing the other publications of this Society, it aims to present the materials of Iowa History in a form that is attractive and a style that is popular in the best sense—to the end that the story of our Commonwealth may be more widely read and cherished.

BENJ. F. SHAMBAUGH

Superintendent

#### THE MEANING OF PALIMPSESTS

In early times palimpsests were parchments or other materials from which one or more writings had been erased to give room for later records. But the erasures were not always complete; and so it became the fascinating task of scholars not only to translate the later records but also to reconstruct the original writings by deciphering the dim fragments of letters partly erased and partly covered by subsequent texts.

The history of Iowa may be likened to a palimpsest which holds the records of successive generations. To decipher these records of the past, reconstruct them, and tell the stories which they contain is the task of those who write history.

PRICE—10c per copy: \$1 per year: free to members of Society
ADDRESS—The State Historical Society

Iowa City Iowa

# THE PALIMPSEST

EDITED BY JOHN ELY BRIGGS

VOL. XVII ISSUED IN NOVEMBER 1936 NO. 11
COPYRIGHT 1936 BY THE STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF IOWA



## Grand Concert

"The greatest living pianist in the world, Anton Rubinstein, and the very famous violinist, Henri Wieniawski," announced the Burlington Hawk-Eye on February 17, 1873, "will appear Wednesday evening, February 26th, at Union Hall, accompanied by two world-renowned soprano and contralto singers — M'lles. Liebhart and Ormeny. It is but rarely that our city is graced with the presence of a troupe giving a concert as highly refined and classical as this will unmistakably be. Regrets because of non-attendance upon this talented performance will be of no avail after the golden opportunity has passed."

A grand concert, indeed! Seldom have four such artists performed in Iowa. Noted lecturers, actors, and musicians have usually come singly. During the decades following the Civil War, Iowans became accustomed to first rate entertainment. Opera houses were well patronized. The coming of Rubinstein to Burlington must have

been counted a rare chance to hear good music, especially at the price of two dollars a seat on the main floor and a dollar in the balcony.

A few days after the first announcement, the following advertisement, written and published in a strictly formal style so characteristic of the times, explained the nature of the coming entertainment:

#### RUBINSTEIN CONCERT

Rubinstein and Wieniawski
Mr. Graw has the honor to announce
One GRAND RUBINSTEIN Concert

for

Wednesday Eve., Feb., 26 at 8 o'clock when Anton Rubinstein

will make his first and only appearance in Burlington, together with an ensemble of eminent artists, including

Henri Wieniawski

The World-Renowned Violinist

Regarded as the only "rival to the memory of Paganini"

M'lle. Louise Liebhart, the celebrated London Soprano

M'lle. Louise Ormeny, the Favorite Contralto Mons. L. Rembialinski, Conductor According to this announcement the ticket sale began at eight o'clock Monday morning, February 24th, at R. M. Washburn's hat store. Seats could be "reserved by mail or telegraph."

The enthusiasm engendered by the prospects of such a concert was reflected in a *Hawk-Eye* comment. "The Rubinstein concert, which is to occur in Union Hall next Wednesday evening is already creating an anticipated furor. Demands for reserved seats were made at Washburn's, yesterday, but of course they were not gratified." The delay in obtaining tickets caused a false rumor to be circulated. "An idea is prevalent about the town that the price of reserved seats is to be four dollars. This is a gross mistake. The price is placed at two dollars, which, for an entertainment of this kind, is extremely low."

In praise of the coming attraction the reporter continued: "The delight with which musical people, all over the world, have heard this monarch among pianists, testifies to his extraordinary power. He is not simply a player. He is a musical genius. For twenty years he has held front rank among the foremost composers of the age. His profession is not the result of mere liking, nor of a capacity for execution. It is the fruit of musical thought, which finds in every note the expression of an idea. There is a mental force in his

management of his instrument, which strikes the thoughts of his hearers."

That the press agents were likewise busily engaged in promoting the concert in the neighboring cities, is shown by the following announcement which appeared in the Mount Pleasant *Press* on February 21st. "The grand Rubinstein Concert is to delight Burlingtonians on the 26th of February. Music-loving people are on tip-toe watching for the great pianist." In support of this assertion a critic in the New York *Mail* was quoted.

"So far as regards the gymnastics of his art, he equals any of his predecessors in any of their specialties. His greatness is that he unites the power of all of them. His left hand playing is marvelous; he can dash off octaves with greater brilliancy than could Sanderson; his touch is as delicate and beautiful as was that of Gottschalk, and he certainly equals Thalbery in the evenness and perfection with which he makes the piano give an orchestial accompaniment to a distinctly broughtout melody. Under his hand the piano seems to be endowed with endless reserves and resources. It is one of the deadest of instruments, but it gives intensity of life that thrills one like the violin under the master's bow."

The Mount Pleasant Journal about the same time admonished its readers to take advantage of

the opportunity. "Any and all who take the slightest interest in intellectual culture, whether they are musical or not, should not fail to embrace this opportunity of hearing the great pianist. It will profit all, for none who are possessed of intellect and some heart can fail to be impressed with his playing."

As for Wieniawski, it was said that he was "one of the most eminent" of modern violinists. He was the son of a Polish physician, born in Lublin, on July 10, 1835. His musical genius asserted itself at a very early age, and his mother went with him to Paris to study when he was but eight years old. He enrolled at the Conservatoire, and was soon permitted to enter Massart's class. When only eleven, in 1846, he won his first prize for playing on the violin. He became a great virtuoso, "distinguished from the mass of clever players, by a striking and peculiar individuality. Technical difficulties did not exist for him, — he mastered them early in childhood. Left hand and right arm were trained to the highest pitch of perfection, and while the boldness of his execution astonished and excited his audience, the beauty and fascinating quality of his tone went straight to their hearts, and enlisted sympathy from the first note."

Union Hall, the place in which the Rubinstein-

Wieniawski concert was advertised to be held, was located in the large, three-story brick building, situated on the northeast corner of Valley and Main streets. For a number of years it proved to be the center from which radiated the social, political, and cultural life of Burlington. There occurred a continuous whirl of activities of almost every description, including the gayest parties and balls, the most important political rallies and conventions, and the finest concerts and lectures which the lyceum talent of the nation afforded. Many artists "from across the waters," also contributed to the edification of the people of Burlington.

The hall was first listed in the Directory of Burlington for the year 1868; and the last listing was in the directory of 1884. For nearly two decades it must have figured prominently as a place of entertainment. The hall proper consisted of a large, rectangular room with a small gallery at the rear, seating several hundred people. Removable wooden chairs were used instead of the more comfortable, upholstered, permanent type now so commonly employed even in the small-town cinema. They were of the straight-backed variety, which could be easily removed when the room needed to be cleared quickly.

Acoustically the hall must have left much to be

desired, for a contemporary critic frankly declared that, "to make music in Union Hall is no fool job. That anybody can please anyone there, is a remarkable sign of merit." From this statement it appears that Rubinstein and his company must have performed under a tremendous handi-

cap in Burlington.

The night of the concert proved to be one of the most disagreeable of the entire winter. The local reporter facetiously remarked that, "Rubinstein and his company took us by storm last night. The weather was fearfully inclement. The wind blew a gale — a heavy sleet was falling, and the streets were a mass of ice. Nevertheless, Union Hall was filled before the hour for the commencement of the concert. Among the audience we recognised many residents of Mt. Pleasant, Fort Madison, Wapello, Monmouth and other neighboring towns." According to the Mount Pleasant Journal of February 27, 1873, a "number of our citizens went to Burlington on Wednesday evening to hear the great pianist Rubinstein, and Wieniawski, the violinist."

Seldom, if ever, had Burlington witnessed so distinguished a gathering. The hall was brilliantly lighted for the occasion, and as the appointed hour approached an air of tense expectancy permeated the audience. The coming of each late arrival

seemed to be the signal for the craning of many necks. Finally, the great pianist entered the hall. Almost instantly there was a lull in the conversation, and soon a hush had fallen over the entire room, as though the people felt that they were in the presence of a dominant personality. As he stood upon the platform, the eager audience, with marked spontaneity, "rose at" him, and he was greeted with a warm, though restrained applause, which Rubinstein acknowledged, bowing rather stiffly, first forward and then to the right and left.

His appearance was striking, and his features, while not exactly classical, were not unpleasing. His head was massive and of a Russian type, "without beard or moustache, but with a thick shock of darkly brown hair," or, as another commentator described it, "decidedly Beethovenesque." His dress, and that of other members of his party, was strictly formal, after the manner of the many great artists appearing at the time upon the concert stage in Europe and America. Doubtless, his quick eye, long trained in the instant evaluation of the tastes and cultural level of his listeners, instinctively noted the rather high percentage of formal dress appearing in the audience before him. The character of his listeners compared favorably, in intellectual and physical appearance, with the many audiences for whom he had played

in the much older and larger eastern cities. This may be attributed to the fact that Burlington and other Iowa cities had attracted many cultured citizens from the East.

This must have pleased Rubinstein, for he gave unstintingly of his talent, and his efforts could not have been greater had he been playing before the most fastidious audience of a European capital. Before the concert, "he looked pale and resolute, — but like a man who meant to do and dare greatly. His small eyes, never strong, had a half closed, mystic, abstract look; his hair was thick and tumbled, his gait was far from graceful; but the instant he sat down to the piano a change seemed to come over him. His absorption was irresistible and contagious.

"He retained the old habit, — caught from Liszt — of tossing his head back occasionally and passing a vagrant hand through his bushy, leonine mane. He often raised high his hands, and swooped down on the piano like an eagle upon its prey — another mannerism — also caught from the great abbate by all his disciples. But the moment he began to play, the attention was enthralled, and for two hours and a half the excitement continued trance-like, or at fever pitch, until the pent up enthusiasm at the close culminated, — in a four-fold recall."

On the day following the concert, Burlingtonians read in the *Hawk-Eye* that, "Rubinstein, the chief feature of the troupe, opened the entertainment with a number of selections from the German masters. Of course," continued the writer, "a person ignorant of the science of music cannot criticize his wonderful performance, or give any intelligible description of it. And we don't feel overly bad about it, for we don't think that anybody can really describe it," and thereby, in his sincerity and frankness, hangs the value of this particular commentator's story. It probably best expressed the common judgment because it was the least colored and sophisticated of all the reports of the concert.

"There is besides his musical dexterity and taste, an individuality which makes his playing unlike that of any artist we have ever heard. The feeling of the audience was manifested by an unexampled enthusiasm. The encores were persistant; in fact, too much so, for a delighted audience don't stop to think that all this music is very hard work to the people who are trying to please them. Rubinstein gracefully acknowledged the applause and played several extra pieces."

Concerning Rubinstein's co-artist: "Mr. Wien-iawski, the violinist, also made himself a favorite in his first appearance. His execution is wonder-

ful, — the bravos which greeted him at every appearance, and followed him from the stage, were so hearty that there is no doubt they were pleasing to him. He was more amiable than anybody had a right to expect, and did more than his share towards the enjoyment of the evening."

"The singing of M'lle Ormeny, who has a powerful and highly cultivated contralto voice, had also its own share of popularity. She was highly applauded." The soprano, Mademoiselle Liebhart, "sang delightfully, and was constantly recalled." The performance as a whole was recognized "as one of the most artistic and pleasing

ever given here."

The Mount Pleasant Journal reported that Rubinstein played with the "grandeur, majesty and deep pathos of Beethoven, the weird dreamings of a Schumann, the magic charms and witchery, interspersed here and there with towering passions, of Chopin, and the severe style of the old writers, such as Bach, Scarlatti, Handel, etc., do not lose their identity under his master hands. He brings out the peculiar characteristics of each in strong and bold lines and makes us really acquainted and familiar with them. He unlocks the door to untold treasures and lets us partake of them freely. He gives food to the mind and heart and leaves us with a consciousness of having

learned something which is both beautiful and useful."

Obviously copied from the studied pen of some eastern critic, this estimate nevertheless conveys some idea of what must have been the mood of the audience at the close of the concert. After the last encore, the emotions of most of the men and women present were too full for expression. The company broke up quietly with an occasional nod and handshake, all carrying away a feeling of awe and bewilderment at the brilliance of the performance they had just witnessed. As one man expressed it, "I never expected to hear such music, this side of heaven."

BEN HUR WILSON

### The Mind and the Soil

On the evening of February 18, 1859, four men met in Cedar Falls to perfect the organization of a society fitted to the needs of an agricultural community which was just emerging from its earliest stage of pioneering. Only six years had elapsed since the village had been platted. The two aims suggested in the title adopted, The Cedar Valley Horticultural and Literary Society, lay close to the heart of Peter Melendy, its father and founder. For three years this pioneer town-builder had either promoted or shared responsibility for every project that furthered the industrial, agrarian, and cultural needs of Cedar Falls and its environs. He endeavored to improve standards of living whether it meant the establishment of a new chair and bedstead factory or loaning to the neighbors his own copies of The Ohio Farmer or of The Atlantic Monthly.

Peter Melendy saw in the establishment of the Horticultural and Literary Society the first step toward making Cedar Falls a city of gardens. The word garden he constantly used in the English sense — the home plot, hedged in for protection from straying stock, and holding in its enclo-

sure ornamental shrubs, shade trees, and flowers, a kitchen garden, and an orchard. For many years his home, now the property of Roger Leavitt at Washington and Eleventh streets, but then occupying most of the square, was the "show garden" of Cedar Falls. He, furthermore, desired to see his fellow townsmen become lovers of books and of reading; and, largely through the foresight of this man, residents of Cedar Falls have had access to a library for nearly eighty years.

At the first meeting of the Horticultural and Literary Society, Peter Melendy was elected president; Dempsey Overman, vice-president; J. H. Brown, secretary; and G. M. Harris, treasurer. Although other officers changed frequently, the Society never had but one president, Peter Melendy, who served until January 13, 1865, when the Society merged into the new Library Association. Over this body he also presided for a full

decade.

Throughout its entire history the Society maintained its headquarters in the Overman Block, then the most conspicuous three-story brick building on Main Street, located on the present site of the Phoenix Building almost opposite the Black Hawk Hotel. For the Society, this building possessed a number of advantages. On the top floor, Overman Hall, eighty feet long and forty-four

wide, furnished ample space for community "festivities" and for the lecture courses fostered by the Society. When needed, several adjoining rooms could be thrown together for the fortnightly exhibitions of fruit, flowers, and vegetables, which were held during the summer months. Thirteen months after its organization an unexpected advantage, equally favorable to the Society, occurred on March 13, 1860, when H. A. and George D. Perkins rented quarters on the ground floor, and began the publication of the Cedar Falls Gazette.

These young editors shared the gardening and literary enthusiasms of Peter Melendy and of the Horticultural Society, as it was then commonly designated. Beginning with the first issue, the editorial columns of the Gazette published a history of the Society's first year, restated its aims of arousing a spirit of emulation among property owners for the beautifying and landscaping of urban and rural homes, and of developing a cultural appreciation of learning and of literature. The editors, furthermore, congratulated their subscribers upon the fact that Peter Melendy would edit a two-column section under the caption of FIELD AND GARDEN which, they declared, would supply gardeners and farmers with more material designed to promote scientific horticulture than could be found in any other paper printed in Iowa. "The mind and the soil is our platform and we would make a thorough business of each, could we have our way", declared Peter Melendy in his FIELD AND GARDEN column, thus summing up his two chief aspirations in founding the Horticultural and Literary Society. With a faith in the future of the Cedar Valley amounting almost to an obsession, he envisaged opportunity on every side, yet he succeeded in tempering his aspirations with a sane practicality. Through his own experimentation, through FIELD AND GARDEN, and through the Horticultural Society, he projected his slogan: the mind and the soil.

February, 1859, proved to be an auspicious month for the Society's inception, for by the time the constitution had been drawn up and approved, an early spring was at hand. At a meeting in March the officers decided upon exhibitions of two kinds. First, they proposed to invite all nurserymen and amateur gardeners in the vicinity to select their choice specimens of fruit, flowers, and vegetables and to exhibit them in the Society's rooms in Overman Hall on alternate Friday evenings from late spring until autumn. The second plan was to offer three special prizes to gardeners who made the greatest progress in improving their premises throughout the growing season of 1859.

For several years the citizens manifested con-

siderable interest both in contributing to the exhibits and in coming out in numbers to view the products of the newly turned prairie soil. As early as March that year the Society announced the premiums. Every one was urged to contribute, children as well as adults. For these fortnightly occasions, small money prizes were offered, usually fifty cents for the first and twenty-five cents for the second, but a "handsomely designed wreath" or an unusual "floral display" was awarded as much as a dollar and a half. If the treasury warranted the expenditure, a beautiful pot of petunias or a child's offering of wake robins or late fall asters sometimes received an extra and unadvertised honorarium.

On March 22, 1861, to take a specific illustration, the committee on premiums sent to the Gazette a list for the coming season containing no less than thirty-eight entries under four general headings. The first of these with six subdivisions dealt with the improvement of gardens as a whole with particular emphasis upon "ornamental planting of shrubbery and shade trees". The second included twenty-five vegetable entries, among them egg plant, pepper grass, and ground cherries. Here the points for judging were to be quality and earliness in ripening. In the third place four prizes were offered for the finest baskets of wild

and of cultivated flowers; while the last group included awards for "the earliest and best plates" of seven varieties of berries and of small fruit.

Judges were appointed for each of these bimonthly affairs and considerable publicity was given to the winners. The Gazette never failed to give a full account of the exhibitions and frequently complimented not only the prize-winners but also the taste manifested in arranging effectively the roses and lilies, the radishes and other summer vegetables. Generally for these community gatherings a program of declamations with a generous proportion of vocal and instrumental music added variety to the entertainment.

Significance of the interests of the Society's founders is inherent in the very first list of prizes for 1859, which definitely encouraged citizens to turn their rather heterogeneous properties into harmonious units. "Sow blue grass where the old woodpile was; plant vines and shrubs; give your son a taste for cultivating the soil." Thus admonished by Peter Melendy, the members sought to reproduce in the growing village on the Cedar the gardens which they knew best in Old England, in New England, or in Virginia. To effect this, the committee offered a first and second prize for "the best arranged dooryard", one for "the best vegetable garden", and a third for "the best combined

vegetable and fruit garden". A committee of three was instructed to visit, during the spring and again in late summer, all the gardens entered in these three lists. For landscaping no money prize, which could be frittered away, was offered, but instead a diploma was promised to the winners.

When the three judges revisited the gardens in August of 1859, they awarded the first honors for the "best arranged door yard" to William Overman. After this "visiting-gardens" trip the committee members reported to the Horticultural Society that they had counted at William Overman's home "sixteen varieties of shade and ornamental trees", at John Garrison's fifteen kinds of vegetables, and at Mrs. A. S. Mitts's eighty different types of native and cultivated flowering plants.

By November, 1859, besides enlisting public interest in gardening, the Horticultural and Literary Society had introduced the panel plan of the lyceum, had arranged for a substantial lecture course, and had mapped out plans for founding and maintaining a library. During the winter months the Society began to consider the scientific side of horticulture, making inquiries concerning relative soil values, grafting, and budding, and the introduction of new varieties of vegetables and fruits, especially berries. The members listened

frequently to essays prepared by their own members on such topics as "The Preparation of Hot Beds", "Rural Embellishments", and "Homes in the West". Of these, the most argued subject dealt with potato growing in the vicinity. As a result, early in 1862, a committee of four assumed the responsibility for carrying out a series of experiments and of reporting their findings to the entire Society in the autumn. Such projects as keeping the meteorological records and the establishment of a museum were started but nothing came of them.

When the Civil War began to challenge the traditional attitudes of all thoughtful Americans, and when this particular farming community strove to send commodities east and south, other topics tended to crowd gardening from its early position of chief interest. The Dubuque and Sioux City Railroad, now the Illinois Central, reached Cedar Falls in 1861, and its terminus remained there throughout the war. Farmers a hundred miles away drove ox teams to the Overman mills to have their grain ground into flour and meal. In 1862 the Cedar Falls Gazette printed statistics to show that the output of these mills averaged one hundred barrels a day; that the hotels had had twenty-five thousand registrants, that four thousand railroad tickets had been sold, and that a

million dollars in bankable funds had passed through the express office.

Under war conditions such changes tended to hasten the development of the isolated prairie village as well as to quicken activity and thought. The people turned from topics relating to the soil and began to announce at least a week in advance panel discussions on such timely questions as: "Does the press control politics?" "Shall the government of the United States be supported by direct taxation?" "Should Iowa abolish her present liquor law and in its place establish an excise tax?" "Can the War be terminated and permanent peace be established by the abolition of slavery?" They, no doubt, settled none of these problems but the adventurous impact of mind upon mind counteracted the routine life of the village and gave the participants an awareness of their relation to the State and to the Nation.

Although the meetings were supposed to begin promptly at seven and close at nine, the hands of the clock often pointed to ten or later before the men lighted their lanterns to guide them through the darkness of the streets. At first the presiding officer gave the sole decision, but as the subjects grew more diverse and the discussions more animated, Peter Melendy begged for assistance and was permitted to appoint judges for each evening.

Some who participated most frequently were George D. Perkins, later to earn State-wide recognition as the editor of the Sioux City Journal, A. F. Brown and J. B. Powers, both State Senators, and the Presbyterian and Congregational ministers, W. Porterfield and L. B. Fifield.

In securing furniture for their assembly rooms, the members displayed the pride of new home owners. Gradually their headquarters were equipped with "twenty settees, three appropriate stands", a carpet for the speaker's platform, a book case, and a geological cabinet. For this equipment the money was derived partly from dues (at first fifty cents and later increased to a dollar), and partly from the proceeds of "festivities". The cost of furniture, premiums, and printing, however, made demands upon the treasury which the modest dues were unable to meet. The rent paid to the Overman brothers varied from fifty to sixty dollars a year, half of which was gained back by subletting the rooms to the Episcopal Society.

While the dues met most of the running expenses of the organization, the cherished plan of establishing a permanent library in Cedar Falls required a much greater expenditure. "Festivities", which would furnish entertainment and thus pleasantly extract money from the community and

at the same time fill the treasury, seemed the most feasible plan. For these "festivities" the Society spared no pains in preparing as elaborate entertainments as the resources of the village permitted. The Fourth of July, Christmas, or Washington's

Birthday provided the occasions.

Perhaps the most successful festivity occurred on Independence Day, 1860. Weeks before, the president had appointed a general committee, and lest anything should be overlooked, eleven subsidiary ones. He assigned to one the duty of lighting the hall and exhibition rooms with sufficient candles and kerosene lamps; to another he commissioned the renting or borrowing of a piano and a melodeon. Perhaps to arouse emulation, three separate committees were assigned the duty of displaying in separate booths the flowers, fruits, and vegetables entered. Arrangements were made for serving refreshments. Citizens loaned their choicest paintings and engravings for decorations. A special committee "on cedars" was instructed to bring in from the woods an abundance of boughs for wreaths and for festooning the walls and booths; and to avoid any possible disappointments on the final day, the committee was definitely instructed to bring the cedar to the hall on the morning of July 2nd.

A small fee admitted the townspeople to an

entertainment of Protean nature. Refreshments. however, were "extra". For those interested in seeing the "grandest floral display ever offered in the county," the doors opened at six in the evening. At seven a brass band and patriotic declamations filled in the time until eight when a half hour intermission permitted the people to view the red and blue ribboned petunias, June apples, and radishes, and to congratulate the winners. Afterward the audience of four hundred again filed up the narrow passage way to the Hall where "A Song for the Fourth of July", set to the music of "The Marseilles", was sung. A protracted series of toasts followed, no less than ten, among which were such topics as "the West", "Our Schools", "The Press", "The Bar", and "The Pulpit". Peter Melendy addressed his fellow townsmen on his favorite topic, "Horticulture", and Zimri Streeter on his, "Agriculture".

The audience showed no disposition to hurry away if one may judge from the words of the reporter for the *Gazette*. "A general good time followed," he wrote, "some tarried in the refreshment rooms", a few promenaded, and more visited, but in one room "some of the youthful blood trod the maizy measures of the dance until dewy morn." The "display of flowers", he added, "exceeded anything we have ever seen in the West."

He praised the arrangement and taste displayed, and passed encomiums on the fruit, saying that it could not be equalled west of the Mississippi, and that this was "the opinion of strangers and disinterested parties" who were present. "Taken all in all", he concluded, "the display was highly flattering to the exhibitors, interesting to the spectators and proves the labors of the Society worthwhile." Even so, the strenuous efforts of the various committeemen returned to the Society only a net profit of \$29.50.

On the financial side the Christmas festivity of 1860 proved more successful, for it brought \$185 into the treasury. Fortunately fine weather and excellent sleighing made it possible for 500 people to attend, although it was later conceded that a hundred couples on the dancing floor more than taxed the capacity of the Hall. The admission price was raised to a dollar, but the Society generously permitted the fee to serve several purposes: it paid the annual dues for the ensuing year, admitted "a gentleman and his lady" not only to the festivity, but also to the winter course of lectures, and to all the summer exhibitions of garden products. The program, featuring vocal and instrumental music, a lecture by J. B. Grinnell, a ten o'clock supper, and "a grand hop from 11 P. M. to? A. M." had been well advertised.

Throughout the autumn the wives and daughters of the members had met weekly to prepare for "a fancy fair" in connection with this Christmas celebration. To display their wares they decorated a pine tree with tallow candles and festooned it with popcorn and cranberries. On this they hung their handiwork — homemade dolls with shoe button eyes and hair of yarn, crocheted tidies, antimacassars, and lambrequins. From the sale of these articles the women turned over to the Society eight dollars to be applied exclusively to the book fund.

In spite of the high prices of commodities and the demands for relief for soldiers and their families, the Society planned an elaborate festival for February 22, 1862, in order to secure books for the library. This time they set the entrance fee at twenty-five cents for adults and ten for children, with refreshments "extra" as usual. For this particular menu oysters formed the piece de resistance. Zimri Streeter, an imposing figure, known as Old Black Hawk, officiated as president of the day. The printed program billed a tripartite program, redolent with patriotism. Part one featured the reading of Washington's "Farewell Address"; the singing of "The Red, the White, and the Blue"; a tableau representing Washington, the Goddess of Liberty, and the thirteen original

States; and a patriotic address on "Washington" delivered by Rev. J. S. Denis of Dubuque. For the second part two bands furnished patriotic music and in turn this concert was followed by "two grand aboriginal dances". The final hours were given over to a friendly social period of "feasting and visiting".

Concerning this celebration the candid editor gave a "half and half" report. He criticised the supper as a failure, and deeply regretted that a snow blockade had prevented the orator of the evening from arriving. On the other hand he was jubilant because the treasury of the Society was enriched by \$65 and because the town could shortly have a library — a monument, he editorially proclaimed, "to the intelligence and literary culture of Cedar Falls."

Annually from 1859 to 1865 the Horticultural and Literary Society provided from a half dozen to twenty lectures. Early in October a committee was appointed to invite lecturers to address the townspeople. For the most part the lectures, given by local professional men, were free. When speakers were imported from Waterloo, Waverly, and Independence, a charge of ten cents was made, and for such men as J. S. Denis and J. B. Grinnell the price was advanced to twenty cents.

During the winter of 1861-1862, however, the experiment of offering seventeen lectures for one dollar or ten cents for a single one was tried. So popular was this course that four additional lecturers were secured, two of whom spoke in May. In these formal talks three major themes dominated: the war, horticulture, and mechanical science. For men and women who could scarcely hope to leave the village after the first heavy snowfall, such a course not only furnished an opportunity to see friends and neighbors but supplied information and often proved thought stimulating.

The ministers of the town, M. Porterfield, L. B. Fifield, O. W. Merrill, and John Bowman, contributed generously as did such farmers and business men as Zimri Streeter, G. B. Van Saun, and William McClure. They gave information or opinions on "The Science of Medicine", "Travels in California", "The Age of Machinery", "Public Opinion", "The Promptings of Patriotism", "College Life", "Cromwell", and "Agriculture As It Is and As It Should Be". The feeling that Cedar Falls must possess a lecture course persisted after the Horticultural and Literary Society had become the Library Association; and later in better times such noted personages as Bayard Taylor, Clara Barton, and Ralph Waldo Emerson spoke to Cedar Falls audiences in Overman Hall.

The founders sought to bring a form of adult education into the circumscribed and often monotonously arduous life of Iowa pioneers. "We believe that horticulture ranks next to the church and the school," said Peter Melendy in FIELD AND GARDEN. Beyond all other projects, however, one dominated all the rest — the desire to establish a library. The fifth officer to be added was a librarian, and no part of the Society's procedure is so particularly minuted as the search for and the acquiring of books, the rules and regulations for use of the books, and the obtaining of more and more money to buy more and more books. All the charter members and many who joined later had come into the Cedar Valley in movers' wagons, drawn by horses or ox teams. With most of them, books had not been considered practical necessities, and had, often with reluctance on the part of the owners, been crowded out of the closely packed prairie schooners. Under such circumstances the greatest single achievement of the group was the gathering of a library of five hundred books and of constantly increasing that number during the war years.

Five months after the founding of the Society, an indefatigable committee deposited at head-quarters fifty books as a nucleus; a month later it supplied a second fifty volumes. Four other mem-

bers set out on a book-soliciting campaign with the result that Dr. A. H. Meredith brought in thirty-nine, Dr. S. N. Pierce, thirty, G. M. Henry, eighteen, and Peter Melendy showed his good will and energy by furnishing one hundred eighteen. In less than a year the Society had acquired over three hundred volumes. Two books, deemed necessary, were lacking; consequently A. L. Mitts was appointed a committee of one to solicit funds for a Bible and for Webster's *Pictorial Dictionary*.

Rather curiously, however, at the very meeting when A. L. Mitts was asked to secure the necessary amount, the secretary was ordered to draw immediately on the treasury to pay in full the Society's subscription to The Scientific American and to *The Horticulturist*. The secretary reported that the Hon. Timothy Davis had acceded to the Society's request and had officially ordered the Annals of Congress to be sent to the Society. A half year later a different committee reported that a suitable bookcase for their library would cost \$22.50 and an additional sum of two and a half dollars was needed for a curtain. For both of these needs the first "festivity" of 1860, celebrating Washington's Birthday, procured the amount desired.

So eager was the organization to acquire books that for at least two years it offered to remit an-

nual dues if a member, new or old, would contribute a suitable volume or volumes. Emphasis was placed, however, on the word suitable, and Dempsey Overman was appointed a committee of one to weigh the books in the balance and report to the Society. In most cases members and their volumes were acceptable and accepted, but in a few cases Dempsey Overman was directed in no uncertain terms to return the books to the owner.

Members were urged to hand to the acting librarian their choices for new books, but these lists passed through a sifting committee, which made the final decisions. In 1861, at an average cost of a little less than a dollar a volume, a hundred and five books were purchased and seventy-seven in 1862. As an event of importance the Gazette chronicled the entire list; furthermore, the choices as printed, indicate that lovers of good literature had influence with the purchasing committee. In their day a number of the books were best selling American and British classics. Among the arrivals listed in 1861 appear Mrs. Gaskell's Life of Charlotte Bronte, Dana's Two Years Before the Mast, Livingstone's Travels in Africa, Lowell's Bigelow Papers, Melville's Moby Dick and Typee, and Tennyson's Princess.

Although most of the regulations for the Society's library are still common in library disci-

pline, a few seem curious to-day. On two occasions in the year, the week preceding the Fourth, and the two weeks before New Year's Day, all books were to be returned to the bookcase for inventory and none could be withdrawn during those days. In the Library there was to be no loud talking, no smoking, no spitting upon the floor, and no whittling. The committee had never heard of a Dewey Decimal System, but the following definite arrangement of books in alphabetical order was insisted upon: Religion, History, Poetry, Agriculture, Horticulture, and Fiction. Leeway was allowed for the unclassifiable volumes by labelling the seventh division, Miscellaneous.

The war, Soldiers' Relief Societies, the multiplying of social units such as the New England Association, and the denominational activities of eight churches tended to reduce the dominance of the Horticultural Society in Cedar Falls. During 1864 interest lessened decidedly, and its most devoted members began to see that if the best interests of the community were to be forwarded everything else should be sacrificed to that of making the library increasingly accessible to the public.

On January 13, 1865, the Horticultural Society was formally disbanded and its place was taken

by the Library Association, which continued to function until the public library, now the Dayton-Carnegie, became a tax-supported institution. More than twenty public-spirited men each subscribed five dollars and on January 20, 1865, an order was sent to Chicago for a hundred dollars worth "of the best and choicest books" available. Dr. S. N. Pierce cheerfully accepted the responsibility of librarian, even allowing the books to be kept in and issued from his office. A daughter of Zimri Streeter, Mrs. Curlis Ford, one of Cedar Falls' few nonagenarians, remembers this library and how she used to stop at Dr. Pierce's office to tell him that she could not be limited to one book but must have two a week for her own reading.

Just what Cedar Falls owes to the men who established the Cedar Valley Horticultural and Literary Society can never be fully ascertained. The Society and its successor, the Library Association, by continuing the lectures and lyceums, prepared the way for the Cedar Falls Parlor Reading Circle which is now completing its first sixty years of life. Perhaps the eight avenues of elms in the older section of town, the name of The Lawn City of Iowa, and the present activity of the Garden Club owe something to Peter Melendy, and to others who experimented in the raising of flowers and of fruit trees in the fifties and the sixties.

This view certainly is held by Solomon Humbert, who recalls the energy, the spirit of scientific inquiry to which Peter Melendy and the Cedar Valley Horticultural and Literary Society gave expression when it attempted to interest pioneering families in the cultivation of the soil and the mind.

Luella M. Wright

## Comment by the Editor

WHAT OF THE NEWS?

The editors of Iowa wrote of politics in February, 1873. They filled their newspaper columns with long reports of legislative bickering over a new compilation of laws. Governor Carpenter's policies were praised and blamed. National politics occupied an inordinate amount of space. Speculation was rife concerning the peculation of Credit Mobilier.

Whole pages were devoted to telegraphic items of no conceivable significance to any subscriber. The price of bread in Persia fell to "six shahis the batman". Rain fell in California!

To satisfy romantic readers, the front page was filled with sweet poems and sentimental stories. Gruesome calamities in far-off places and horrible crimes nearer home were related with an air of righteous disapproval.

A column of Iowa items contained such intriguing announcements as a young lady fulfilling her promise to kiss the editor once a month for four years because Grant was elected, and the remarkable information that the original cost of Davenport was \$200. But seldom was printed a notice of churches, schools, business, farming, or fun. The daily substance of Iowa life was sadly neglected. Personal doings were apparently rated as gossip and left for neighborly dissemination. Anything local was discounted — at least in terms of space.

The winter months of 1873 were probably crowded with lyceum meetings, lectures, plays, concerts, and balls. Famous speakers like Frederick Douglass came to Iowa. Ole Bull played in several cities; stock companies kept the theaters well filled; and literary societies stimulated good taste in literature.

Of all this evidence of cultural activity there are only fugitive references in the newspapers. If Rubinstein and his troupe played elsewhere in Iowa than Burlington, their concerts left no trace in the news. Though the musical season in Burlington was extraordinary, the weekly *Hawk-Eye* sedulously avoided the subject.

Such reticence is amazing. It suggests that the historian can not rely upon the apportionment of newspaper attention as an exact measure of contemporary social values. Editorial prejudice, reading habits, popular interests, and journalistic fashions distort the picture of the times. True perspective should be sought in further sources.

J. E. B.

# THE STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF IOWA

Established by the Pioneers in 1857 Located at Iowa City Iowa

#### PUBLICATIONS OF THE SOCIETY

The Quarterly Journal of History

The Palimpsest—A monthly magazine

The Public Archives Series

The Iowa Biographical Series

The Iowa Economic History Series

The Iowa Social History Series

The Iowa Applied History Series

The Iowa Chronicles of the World War

The Miscellaneous Publications

The Bulletins of Information

#### MEMBERSHIP

Membership in the State Historical Society may be secured through election by the Board of Curators. The annual dues are \$3.00. Members may be enrolled as Life Members upon the payment of \$50.00.

Address all Communications to

THE STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Iowa City Iowa